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SUMMARY

This report has been compiled by The Bamburgh Research Project for Eland Design during July 2006. The report sets out the archaeological background and assesses the archaeological potential for the development site and its vicinity.

The development site lies at Tilesheds Plantation (NGR NU 1902 2722), Chathill, Northumberland, within the civil parish of Ellingham. 

The first edition Ordnance Survey map of 1866 shows the brick and tile works that formerly occupied the site to have consisted of an east-to-west aligned rectangular kiln structure to the south of a large north-to-south aligned building. These were surrounded by a series of clay pits.

The principal potential impact of development on the site will be upon the remains of the brick and tile works. The locations of the structures on the site are primarily evident from the cartographic evidence and their likely forms and functions must be deduced from comparable sites elsewhere. At the same time, a walkover hinted at the survival of sub-surface structures in the appropriate positions. Sympathetic design, in consultation with the Conservation Team of Northumberland County Council, could avoid damage to any of the major components identified. 

PROJECT BACKGROUND

1.0
INTRODUCTION

1.0.1
This assessment report has been compiled by The Bamburgh Research Project for Eland Design during July 2006. It sets out the archaeological background to the proposed development and the information sources consulted. Recorded archaeological features within the development area and the vicinity are summarised, and the potential for previously unrecorded remains is assessed. The predicted impact of the development upon the potential archaeology is also assessed.

1.0.2 The Planning Application Number for the proposed development is 06/B/0334. The Northumberland County Council Conservation Team reference is 5792 B5/5. The OASIS reference number is bamburgh1-17289.

2.0
THE SITE

2.1
Location

2.1.1 The development site lies at Tilesheds Plantation (NGR NU 1902 2722), Chathill, Northumberland, within the civil parish of Ellingham (Figure 1).

2.2
Description

2.2.1
The proposed development comprises the northern portion of the existing Tilesheds Plantation and approximates to the area occupied by the 19th-century brick and tile works (see below, section 4.6).

2.2.2
The site lies on gently undulating land 0.3km east of Chathill railway station, on the main London to Edinburgh line, 2.3km south-west of Swinhoe, 1.9km south-east of Newham, and 1.4km north-west of Brunton airfield, slightly below the 30m contour. The surrounding area is principally given over to arable farming.

2.2.3
The site has been partly landscaped in recent times, which includes an area of lawn to the south of the access track, and partial re-excavation of, and planting in and around, some of the original clay pits. Unexcavated portions of the clay pits are now overgrown with developed brush and tree cover. Some clearance of the site appears to have taken place during the Second World War and its has subsequently been used for dumping (J. Pringle, pers. comm.).

.2.4
The underlying geology is the Yoredale series of Tournaisian and Visean carboniferous limestones overlain with glacial till. Bateson (1895, 220, n. 3) speculated that the name Chathill may derive from the steep stony mounds of drift material found in the area. The proposed development is situated within the Brickfield 3 association of loamy and clayey surface-water gley soils (Jarvis et al. 1984).
3.0
METHODOLOGY AND INFORMATION SOURCES

3.0.1 The aim of the desk-based assessment is:

· To identify and locate known archaeological sites within or adjacent (within 1km) to the proposed development area 

· To identify areas with the potential to contain unrecorded archaeological remains 

· To asses the impact of previous disturbances and construction on the site

· To assess the physical impact of the development upon the archaeological resource

3.0.2 The report is based upon a review of available existing information, desk studies and field inspection. The following data sources were utilised for the assessment:

· Sites and monuments record (SMR) 

· Cartographic and aerial photographic sources

· Published and unpublished historical and archaeological studies

· Walkover survey of the proposed development area

4.0
HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL BACKGROUND

4.1
The prehistoric period

4.1.1
No known prehistoric sites lie within 1km of the site, although prehistoric activity is known within the general area. A Bronze Age socketed axehead was found near Newham Lough (NMR Inv. 7321), whilst a round barrow of the same period is known from Newstead (NMR Inv. 7327).

4.2
The Roman period

4.2.1
No known Roman period sites lie within the study area. The site lies approximately 2.5km east of a possible Roman road, the course of which was followed closely by the Newcastle to Tweedmouth turnpike (Bishop in preparation). Two bronze Roman vessels have been recorded from Newham Bog (NMR Inv. 7307).

4.3
The early medieval period

4.3.1
There are no known early medieval period sites within the study area. An Anglo-Saxon hanging bowl is known from Newham Bog (NMR Inv. 7307).

4.4
The medieval period

4.4.1
There are no known medieval period sites within the study area.

4.5
The post-medieval period

4.5.1
There are no known post-medieval period sites within the study area. Edward Haggerston purchased Ellingham in 1698/9 (Bateson 1895, 264–5) and, in 1717, made a deposition stating that he possessed a farmhold called Chathill (ibid., 320, n. 4). In his will of 1726, Edward left his lands in Ellingham, Tinely, and Chathill to Sir Carnaby Haggerston, his nephew (ibid., 264–5). In 1825, Mackenzie noted that Chathill ‘consisted of one farmhold and four cottages’ and was the property of Thomas Haggerston (Mackenzie 1825, 424).

4.5.2
Examination of post-medieval and early modern maps revealed little beyond the fact of the existence of the settlement of Chathill, in keeping with the scale suggested by Mackenzie’s observation.

4.6
The modern period

4.6.1 Chathill station was constructed in 1847 when the Berwick and Newcastle railway was built and is still in use by local services at the time of writing. The station building and down platform (HER 4093), waiting shed and up platform (HER 4094), and signal box (HER 4095) are all Grade II listed buildings and lie within the 1km radius study area.

4.6.2
The Chathill brick and tile works (HER 18603) exploited one of the two outcrops of clay within the parish (Bateson 1895, 221). It appears to have been in operation between 1860 and 1899, although the census returns for Chathill show an overall decline in population between 1801 and 1841 from 39 to 18, but an increase from 47 in 1851 to 66 in 1881, perhaps reflecting this new source of employment – Davison (1986, 4) notes that the peak in rural brick and tile works in the North-East was between the 1850s and 1870s, coinciding with the improvement of land by deep drainage. Bateson (1895, 221) noted that Chathill manufactured tiles and drain pipes, amongst other things. By comparison, in 1908 the Flodden brick and tile works produced bricks, pantiles, garden plant pots, and field drains (Davison 1986, 10).

4.6.3
The first edition Ordnance Survey map of 1866 shows the site to consist of an east-to-west aligned rectangular kiln structure to the south of a large north-to-south aligned building. The kiln (at approximately 5m by 3m) is of an appropriate shape and size for a single-ended ‘Newcastle’ type kiln (cf. Davison 1986, 10 and 43), whilst the longer structure (roughly 16m by 4m) might be a drying shed, such as that found at Ewart Park, which was 23yd (21m) long by 6yd (5.5m) wide (ibid. 11).

4.6.4
Davison does not cite his sources, but his two references to Chathill – with J. Bolam in charge of the works in 1884, and William Lockie in 1894 (1986, 7) – may derive simply from entries in trade directories (cf. Kelly’s 1894, 107 and 495). It was not possible to check for other documentary or photographic evidence in the county record office due to its closure for relocation.

4.6.5
The location of the Chathill airship sub-station (HER 20874) lies within the study area. This was under the control of the airship station at East Fortune (East Lothian) during the First World War and was used for anti-submarine patrols. It was finally abandoned in 1920 (Chorlton 2005, 14 and 69).

4.6.6
An auxiliary unit (or ‘auxunit’) operational base (a ‘hide’ or ‘hide-out’ for a leader and between three and seven men) has been recorded by the Defence of Britain project  between Chathill and Brunton (DOB 2002, S0016949). This would have been intended as a centre for a local sabotage force, had invasion occurred in 1940.

4.7
Site walkover

4.7.1 A visit to the site at Tilesheds Plantation was made on 21st July 2006. There are no standing buildings relating to the original works, although the location of the long north to south oriented rectangular building can be identified from rubble, including brick and pantile fragments, but it should be noted that there is more modern debris mixed in with this, possibly as a result of the site being used as a dump by previous owners (J. Pringle, pers. comm.). The modern access track (Plate 1) is on the same line as the original one, but the area of the kiln is now grassed over (Plate 2). One area of uneven ground within the lawn corresponds with the eastern side of the kiln structure and shows fragments of coal, clinker, and brick, possibly indicative of sub-surface remains (Plate 3). Some of the original clay pits have been partially re-excavated as wildlife ponds as part of the overall landscaping of the site (Plate 4). An area of concrete hard standing is situated in the north-west corner of the site and this appears to be comparatively modern.

4.8
Other monuments

4.8.1
There are no Registered Parks and Gardens, Registered Battlefields, World Heritage Sites, or Scheduled Monuments within the study area.

5.0
IMPORTANCE OF THE ARCHAEOLOGY 

5.0.1
Chathill brick and tile works is only known from cartographic and trade literature sources (although it has not been possible to check the county record office for any relevant information). Other comparable rural sites provide some details of what might be encountered in the way of sub-surface remains (a probable ‘Newcastle’ type kiln and a drying shed being the most obvious).

5.0.5
The significance of studying a brick and tile production site is implicitly (if not explicitly) covered by English Heritage (1997) Research Agenda T7, ‘Patterns of craftsmanship and industry’.

6.0
IDENTIFIED IMPACTS

6.0.1
The principal potential impact of development on the site will be upon the remains of the 19th-century brick and tile works that occupied the site. The locations of the structures on the site are primarily evident from the cartographic evidence and their likely forms and functions must be deduced from comparable sites elsewhere. At the same time, the walkover hinted at the survival of sub-surface structures in the appropriate positions. Sympathetic design, in consultation with the Conservation Team of Northumberland County Council, could avoid damage to any of the major components identified above.

6.0.2
There is unlikely to be any appreciable impact on any of the other sites identified within the study area. Although cropmarks to the south hint at the possibility of  earlier, as yet unidentified, remains on the site or in the immediate vicinity, there is no way of assessing the likelihood of such discoveries.

7.0
CONCLUSIONS

7.0.1
The brick and tile works at Chathill seem to have been established to serve the rural market and accord with other examples in the North-East. The proximity of the railway would have provided ready means to a modern and efficient means of distribution. There are indications from the documentary evidence and the walkover that archaeological remains of the brick and tile works could be encountered within the development area. There is no direct evidence for prehistoric, Roman, early medieval, or medieval activity, although the possibility of unexpected finds exists.

7.0.2
Cartographic evidence indicates that the development site was used as a brick and tile works until the end of the 19th century, before being abandoned.

7.0.3
Waterlogged anaerobic deposits may be encountered within those unexcavated portions of the former clay pits on the development site. Any archaeological deposits would also have the potential to produce palaeoenvironmental remains.
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APPENDIX I. Archaeological and historic sites (within 1km)

	SMR ID
	Type
	Grid ref.
	Date
	Form

	4993
	listed building
	NU 1861 2701
	modern
	station building and up platform

	4994
	listed building
	NU 1863 2703
	modern
	waiting shed and down platform

	4995
	listed building
	NU 1864 2700
	modern
	signal box

	18601
	structure
	NU 1854 2708
	modern
	milepost

	18604
	bridge
	NU 1938 2647
	modern
	footbridge

	18603
	workshop (site)
	NU 1901 2714
	modern
	brick and tile works

	20874
	airfield (site)
	NU 195 273
	modern
	airship sub-station

	-
	fortification
	NU 195 267
	modern
	auxiliary unit operational base

	18602
	structure
	NU 1867 2701
	unknown
	well

	4975
	cropmarks
	NU 196 269
	unknown
	cropmarks
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